No. 45195-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### EARL BURNS,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Jerry Costello, Trial Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK WSBA No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

##

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	1.	Proce	dural Facts	2	
	2.	Testir	mony at trial	3	
D.	<u>ARGUMENT</u>				
	1.	FEDE	BURNS WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND ERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY	9	
		a.	Relevant facts	. 10	
		b.	Mr. Burns was deprived of his rights to a fair trial before an impartial jury	. 16	
	2.	REVERSAL AND REMAND FOR A NEW TRIAL IS ALSO REQUIRED BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED FLAGRANT, PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT			
		a.	Relevant facts	. 23	
		b.	The arguments were flagrant, prejudicial misconduct	. 25	
E.	CON	CONCLUSION			

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

<u>In re Glasman, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012).</u>
State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 887 P.2d 396 (1995)
State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978)
State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 10 P.3d 977 (2000)
State v. Elmore, 155 Wn.2d 758, 123 P.3d 72 (2005)
State v. Fire, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001)
<u>State v. Huson</u> , 73 Wn.2d 660, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 393 U.S. 1096 (1969)
State v. Pete, 152 Wn.2d 546, 98 P.3d 803 (2004)
State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)
State v. Rinkes, 70 Wn.2d 854, 425 P.2d 658 (1967)
State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
Kuhn v. Schnall, 155 Wn. App. 560, 228 P.3d 828, review denied, 159         Wn.2d 1024 (2010)
<u>Otis v. Stevenson-Carson School Dist. No. 303</u> , 61 Wn. App. 747, 812 P.2d 133 (1999)
<u>State v. Claflin</u> , 38 Wn. App. 847, 690 P.2d 1186 (1984), <u>review denied</u> , 103 Wn.2d 1014 (1985), <u>overruled on other grounds by</u> , <u>City of Seattle v. Heatley</u> , 70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993) 28
<u>State v. Fleming</u> , 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), <u>review denied</u> , 131 Wn.2d 1018 (1997)
State v. Gonazles, 111 Wn. App. 276, 45 P.3d 205 (2002), review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1012 (2003)

<u>State v. Grenning</u> , 142 Wn. App. 518, 174 P.3d 706 (2008), <u>affirmed on other grounds</u> , 169 Wn.2d 47, 234 P.2d 169 (2010)
<u>State v. Stith</u> , 71 Wn. App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993)
<u>State v. Suarez-Bravo</u> , 72 Wn. App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994) 22
FEDERAL AND OTHER CASELAW
Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1935)
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)
<u>Taylor v. Louisiana</u> , 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975)
<u>United States v. Martinez-Salazar</u> , 528 U.S. 304, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article I, § 22
Article I, § 3
Fourteenth Amend
RCW 10.99.020
RCW 4.44.170
RCW 9.92.110
RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a)
Sixth Amend

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Appellant Earl Burns was deprived of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, §§ 3 and 22 rights to a fair trial before an impartial jury when the trial court denied a challenge for cause to a prospective juror and that biased juror was seated and deliberated as a member of the jury.
- 2. The prosecutor committed serious misconduct in arguing facts not in evidence about the crucial issue of credibility and shifting a burden of proof to the defendant, not all of which was cured.

#### B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. The right to a fair trial before an impartial jury includes the right to have a potential juror excused for cause when the juror is biased.

In this case, Juror 22 said he was not sure he could be fair and impartial as a result of having friends in law enforcement. He also was a victim himself of an assault and was not sure he could be fair in this assault case. He admitted he would be more likely to be able to be fair and impartial in deciding a different kind of case. And, among other, similar declarations he made during voir dire, he said he had a "gut reaction" that he could not be fair and impartial.

Did the trial court err in denying Burns' challenge for cause to Juror 22 where that juror had actual bias and none of the efforts to rehabilitate the juror were sufficient?

2. In closing argument, the prosecutor told the jurors they had to decide how the victim got the injuries if they did not think Burns had committed the crime. He also told them the victim had not "hit herself" and there were photos showing the injuries, but "no other explanation" for how they occurred.

A defense objection to "burden shifting" was sustained and the prosecutor and court reminded the jury that the prosecution had the burden of proof.

In rebuttal closing argument, however, the prosecutor returned to the theme, again declaring the victim "didn't hit herself" and "that "[t]hese injuries did happen." 13RP 116.

Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial misconduct in shifting the burden to the defendant after the court had already sustained objection to similar misconduct?

3. The prosecutor also told the jurors, in closing, that he had asked Burns' girlfriend about providing Burns with an "alibi" when he had not actually done so, then implied to jurors that the relationship between Burns and his girlfriend had only become "official" so that Burns could get her to testify on his behalf.

Did the court err in denying counsel's objection and did the prosecutor commit misconduct in making the argument where there was no testimony to support it and the facts not in evidence which the prosecutor argued were on the crucial issue of credibility?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Earl Burns was charged by information with second-degree assault, alleged to be a "domestic violence incident." CP 1; RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a); RCW 10.99.020. The case was continued after motions in front of the Honorable Judge Brian Tollefson on October 4 and December 6, 2012, the Honorable Judge Bryan Chuschcoff on January 8 and 14, March 7 and 28, May 8 and 16, June 4 and 11, 2013, and the Honorable Katherine Stolz on March 18, 2013, after which a jury trial was held before the Honorable Judge Jerry T. Costello on June 24-27, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of 13 volumes, which will be referred to as follows:

<sup>1</sup>RP- October 4, 2012

<sup>2</sup>RP-December 6, 2012

<sup>3</sup>RP-January 8, 2013

<sup>4</sup>RP-January 14, 2013

<sup>5</sup>RP-March 7, 2013

<sup>6</sup>RP-March 18, 2013

<sup>7</sup>RP-March 28, 2013

<sup>8</sup>RP-May 8, 2013

<sup>9</sup>RP-May 16, 2013

<sup>10</sup>RP-June 4 and 11, 2013

<sup>11</sup>RP-June 24 and 25, 2013 (trial proceedings)

The jury convicted Burns as charged and sentencing proceedings were held on July 12 and August 2, 2013. CP 67-69. Judge Costello ordered Burns to serve a standard range sentence. CP 85-98. Burns appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 100.

#### 2. Testimony at trial

In June of 2012, Latonia Sharpley and Earl Burns had been together almost 11 years and had two kids in common. 11RP 31-35. Sharpley, who had four children with others, admitted that things with Burns were "off and on" and they would sometimes separate and he would move out. 11RP 48-49. Burns, like Sharpley, had a child with someone else - Megan Rose, his girlfriend. 11RP 49. Sharpley admitted her suspicion that Burns and Rose had been together sometimes when Sharpley had been thinking she and Burns were together. 11RP 49. Sharpley said it made the relationship "a little difficult[.]" 11RP 49.

According to Sharpley, at about 8 on the morning of June 29, 2012, she and Burns were in their bedroom and she was lying on her side facing away from Burns, sending a "text" message on her cellular telephone.

11RP 49-50. Burns wanted to know with whom Sharpley was communicating and tried to grab her phone. 11RP 49-50. Sharpley had "some things" in her phone she did not want Burns to see, so they started wrestling over the phone. 11RP 49-50. Sharpley said he "just pinned" her down and took the phone from her. 11RP 35.

With the phone, Sharpley said, Burns went into the bathroom,

<sup>12</sup>RP-June 24 and 25, 2013 (voir dire)

<sup>13</sup>RP-June 26 and 27, July 12 and August 2, 2013

locking the door. 11RP 48-49. Although she was aware that he might then be seeing what she had not wanted to see him on her phone, Sharpley did not leave, even though he was in there about 10 minutes. 11RP 50.

According to Sharpley, when Burns came out, he asked her if she had been talking with her ex-boyfriend. 11RP 35. She said "no." 11RP 35. In fact, Sharpley *had* been communicating with her "ex," just not at that moment. 11RP 35, 50. At trial, Sharpley drew that distinction, saying when she said "no" she had meant at that moment, not that she had not been communicating with her ex at all. 11RP 35, 50.

Sharpley said Burns declared he would "beat her ass" if she was lying. 11RP 35. When he used his phone to check a number he had presumably found on her phone, he determined that the number was for Sharpley's "ex." 11RP 35. At that point, Sharpley said, he knew she had lied. 11RP 35.

Sharpley testified that Burns then said he was about to beat her up. 11RP 36. He was "surprisingly calm," climbing onto the bed. 11RP 36. At trial, Sharpley testified that she was holding Burns' son with Rose and that Burns took the 2-3 month old out of her hands, setting him away from her on the bed. 11RP 36, 48.

On cross-examination, however, Sharpley admitted that she never said anything to police the day of the incident about a child being on the bed when the incident occurred. 11RP 51. An officer who spoke to Sharpley confirmed that she did not say anything about a child being in the room and on the bed when the incident occurred. 11RP 103.

According to Sharpley, after putting the child down, Burns then

kneeled, said Sharpley was being a "little whore" and hit Sharpley on her right temple, near the eye, with a closed fist. 11RP 36, 48. Sharpley asked him to stop and covered her face but he straddled her on the bed and hit her again. 11RP 37.

At trial, Sharpley said he then hit her with alternating fists, first the left and the right. 11RP 37-38. She also made it sound as if it was nonstop, saying he did not stop hitting her when she had her hands pinned to her sides so she could not cover her face anymore, even after she told him she could not breathe because how he was sitting on her. 11RP 38. And she said he did not stop hitting her until she turned her head to the side and started spitting out blood. 11RP 39.

When asked specifically how many times she was hit after he straddled her, however, Sharpley said it was only about a total of five to six more times. 11RP 38-39, 52. When she had spoken to police she had said it was only four. 11RP 51-52.

When she turned her head and started spitting, Sharpley said,
Burns then got off her, stood over her on the bed and, when she rolled onto
her left side to catch her breath, kicked her in her back once, saying, "you
are not worth it." 11RP 39. Sharpley also said Burns went into the
bathroom to clean his hands up, saying something like, "bitch, go
downstairs and put some ice on your face." 11RP 39. According to
Sharpley, when she continued laying there for a minute, Burns said, "what
did I say? I told you to go put some ice on your face. Nothing is wrong
with you." 11RP 39.

Once again, however, on cross-examination, Sharpley admitted

that she had not told police things she was now saying to the jury. 11RP 52. She conceded that she never said anything to police about being kicked in the back. 11RP 52. An officer who spoke to Sharpley testified that she said nothing about it at all. 11RP 103. The nurse Sharpley spoke to at the hospital just after the incident confirmed that Sharpley said nothing about being kicked in the back. 13RP 22. Nor did Sharpley ever complain of any back pain. 13RP 22.

Sharpley said that, ultimately, she got up and had to feel her way downstairs because both eyes were swollen shut. 11RP 39. She headed to the bathroom. 11RP 40. Once there, she locked herself in, then climbed out the bathroom window. 11RP 40. She then approached some lawn maintenance people working on a house nearby and they called for help. 11RP 40.

At trial, Sharpley said that Burns' cousin was downstairs in the living room asleep during the incident that morning. 11RP 54. She did not explain why she did not try to get the cousin to help her, instead of climbing out a window. 11RP 54.

Before police arrived, Sharpley said, she saw Burns walk out the front door. 11RP 42. Sharpley thought he was "looking" for her and that he did not stick around at the house. 11RP 42. Sharpley admitted, however, that she did not see him leave. 11RP 42. She also said his truck was there when he was at the house but not when police arrived. RP 42.

Sharpley was taken by ambulance to a local hospital. 11RP 42-43. She suffered an injury around her right eye, a hemorrhage of the left eye, a fractured left lower tooth, swelling and tenderness around her right eye and

similar symptoms around her right eye. 13RP 35.

While at the hospital, Sharpley spoke to police again, giving them a handwritten statement. 11RP 45. Sharpley said an officer "did" the first page and she did the second, probably within 45 minutes to an hour after the incident occurred. 11RP 45.

Sharpley's statement was about two sentences long. 11RP 46. At trial, Sharpley said she did not give more detail because she was in pain and just tried to write the basics. 11RP 46. She did not think to ask the officer if he would write it for her so she could give more details. 11RP 52-53.

A little later, on about July 9, 2012, Sharpley contacted police again about the incident. 11RP 52-53, 104. She did not call to give them details about the incident other than the few she had given but instead to give them an address where she thought Burns might be found and arrested. 11RP 52-53, 104.

Sharpley admitted she knew that she could recontact police to make sure her statement was complete or give further details. 11RP 53. She said she never told police anything about a young child supposedly being on the bed next to Sharpley while she was assaulted because she did not think it was "relevant." 11RP 53. She admitted she did not recall saying anything to police about being kicked in the back even though she was now saying at trial that it had happened. 11RP 53.

Tacoma Police Department (TPD) Officer Wayne Beals testified that, when he spoke to Sharpley just after the incident, she told him more detail about the incident than she wrote on her actual statement. 11RP 72-

73. To Beals, Sharpley said nothing about a child being present at the time of the assault. 11RP 80. Sharpley also said nothing about being kicked in the back. 11RP 80.

Beals, whose independent recollection of the interview returned once he reread his report, said Sharpley had blood on both her hands and her mouth when he saw her. 11RP 87. In his report, however, he never noted any blood on her hands, and there were apparently no pictures taken showing such blood. 11RP 97.

TPD Detective Eric Kothstein contacted Sharpley after the incident and spoke with her as part of his investigation. 11RP 92-98. Kothstein admitted Sharpley never said anything about a child being present. 11RP 103. She also did not say anything about Burns supposedly kicking her in the back. 11RP 103. In addition, Sharpley never told the officer anything about Burns' cousin being at the house at the time of the incident. RP 103.

Megan Rose testified on Burns' behalf. 13RP 41-42. She said she had been "unofficially" involved in a relationship with Burns for about three years and the relationship had become official only about ten months before trial. 13RP 41-42. The relationships involved were apparently complicated and Rose said Burns was not "officially" with Sharpley at the time of the incident, either. 13RP 49. At that time, Rose was living with Burns' mother in Tacoma and Burns was "mostly" at Sharpley's house, although he would stay the night sometimes with Rose. 13RP 44, 50.

Rose said that, between 11 p.m. the night before and 1 a.m. the morning of the incident, she was at Burns' mother's house sleeping when he showed up, saying he had caught Sharpley cheating. 13RP 44. Rose

said Burns was upset and needed to "get away," so he stayed the night there. 13RP 44. Burns told her his cousin, who was babysitting their son at Sharpley's house, had dropped him off at Burns' mother's home. 13RP 46.

Rose explained that it was not uncommon for her child to be at Sharpley's house when Burns was there, and it was also not unusual for Burns to leave the child with his cousin, who was also staying at Sharpley's. 13RP 58.

The next morning, at around 8 a.m., Burns woke Rose up and told her that Sharpley was "blowing his phone up with text messages" and calling him about something. 13RP 45. Rose then went over to get her son, thinking there might be an issue with Sharpely. 13RP 46.

The prosecutor asked whether Rose was thinking that this had occurred the night of the 28<sup>th</sup> through the morning of the 29<sup>th</sup> or one night later and Rose was sure it was the 28<sup>th</sup> through the 29<sup>th</sup>. 13RP 45. She said she remembered it "[b]ecause based off the information that I know of the situation is that this situation apparently occurred early morning on the 29<sup>th</sup>, so it had to have been the 28<sup>th</sup> to the 29<sup>th</sup>." 13RP 45. She said it was information that she knew about when Burns was accused of this incident and that they had talked about it. 13RP 53.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. MR. BURNS WAS DENIED HIS STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee the accused in a criminal case the right to a fair trial before an impartial jury. See <u>Taylor v.</u>

Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975); State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 824, 10 P.3d 977 (2000); Sixth Amend.; Fourteenth Amend.; Article I, § 3; Article I, § 22. As part of those rights, a defendant is "entitled to a fair trial before 12 unprejudiced and unbiased jurors." Indeed, the Supreme Court declared, "there should be no lingering doubt" about whether a trial meets those standards. Davis, 141 Wn.2d at 824.

The state of the s

In general, the trial court's decision to dismiss a juror is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. App. 518, 540, 174 P.3d 706 (2008), affirmed on other grounds, 169 Wn.2d 47, 234 P.2d 169 (2010). Because the trial court is in the best position to evaluate a juror in person, the reviewing court gives deference to the trial court's decision about the prospective juror's credibility and ability to deliberate. See State v. Elmore, 155 Wn.2d 758, 769 n. 3, 123 P.3d 72 (2005). However a trial court "must excuse a juror for cause if actual bias is shown." Grenning, 142 Wn. App. at 540.

In this case, this Court should reverse, because Mr. Burns was denied his state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial before an impartial jury when the trial court denied his challenge to dismiss Juror 22 for cause and that biased juror ended up serving on the jury.

#### a. Relevant facts

In initial <u>voir dire</u>, it was established that Juror 22 lived in Spanaway, was retired and had been self-employed for over 40 years in such businesses as owning a franchise store and having a beauty salon.

12RP 15. When jurors were asked if anyone had personal experience with

an alleged felony assault with injuries that was "domestic violence," Juror 22 indicated he was one. See 12RP 21.

Juror 22 had several friends in law enforcement, including a retired TPD Detective, and said they all talked about cases. 12RP 21-22, 43.

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