COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

EARL BURNS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jerry Costello

No. 12-1-03109-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO STRIKE JUROR 22 FOR CAUSE IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT BECAUSE HE ACCEPTED THE JURY WITHOUT EXHAUSTING HIS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES AND MERITLESS BECAUSE DISQUALIFYING ACTUAL BIAS WAS NEVER PROVED.

A defendant is guaranteed the right to a fair and impartial jury under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 (amend.10) of the Washington Sate Constitution. *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 517, 14 P.3d 713 (2000)(*citing State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 157, 892, P.2d 20 (1995); *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 748, 743 P.2d 210 (1987)). Trial courts safeguard those rights by excusing jurors with proven bias for cause. *State v. Grenning*, 142 Wn. App. 518, 540, 174 P.3d 706 (2008)(*citing State v. Gosser*, 33 Wn. App. 428, 433,

656 P.2d 514 (1982); RCW 4.44.170). Actual bias is:

...the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging...."

Gosser, 33 Wn. App. at 517-18 (quoting RCW 4.44.170).

A trial court's decision on actual bias is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ottis v. Stevenson-Carson School Dist. No 303*, 61 Wn. App. 747, 755-57, 812 P.2d 133 (1991) (*citing State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 840, 809 P.2d 190 (1991); *Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d at 749; *Gosser*, 33 Wn.App. at 434)). "[E]vidence [is considered] in the light most favorable to the prevailing party ... which ... means ... the appellate court must accept the trial judge's decision regarding the credibility of the prospective juror ... as well as the trial judge's choice of reasonable inferences." *Id.* A trial court's decision will not be reversed unless it is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds for untenable reasons. *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 95, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-7, 940 P.2d 1362(1997); *see also* RCW 2.28.010.

a. This issue is improperly raised for defendant accepted the jury without exhausting his peremptory challenges.

"Under well-settled case law," a defendant may not properly challenge a trial court's refusal to strike a juror for cause when the defendant accepts the jury without exhausting peremptory challenges since prejudice predicated on the jury's composition cannot be shown. State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 762, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001)(citing State v. Tharp, 42 Wn.2d 494, 500, 256 P.2d 482 (1952); State v. Collins, 50 Wn.2d 740, 744, 314 P.2d 660 (1957); State v. Robinson, 75 Wn.2d 230, 231-32, 450 P.2d 180 (1969); State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 616, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995); State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 277, 985 P.2d 289 (1999)).

Defendant accepted the jury without exercising his sixth peremptory challenge as to the first twelve jurors or the peremptory challenge reserved for the alternate juror. CP 113; 12RP 124-26. Those tactical decisions were memorialized by his entry of the word "Pass" on the lines designated for peremptory challenges six and seven. CP 113. Since defendant accepted the seated panel with peremptory challenges to spare he cannot make the requisite showing of prejudice.

The well-settled waiver doctrine barring this improperly raised claim was not overruled in *State v. Fire*, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001)). *Fire* held that:

"[i]f a defendant through the use of a peremptory challenge elects to cure a trial court's error in not excusing a juror for cause, exhausts his peremptory challenges before the completion of jury selection, and is subsequently convicted by a jury on which no bias juror sat, he has not demonstrated prejudice, and reversal of his conviction is not warranted."

145 Wn.2d at 165. *Fire* did not decide the factual scenario before this Court, *i.e.*, a defendant who allowed a juror unsuccessfully challenged for

cause to be empanelled despite the availability of a peremptory challenge that was never used. *See Id.* at 156. Defendant maintains *Fire* nevertheless reached beyond its facts to decide issue preservation through the following passage:

"As the Court indicated, if a defendant believes that a juror should have been excused for cause and the trial court refused his for-cause challenge, he may elect not to use a peremptory challenge and allow the juror to be seated. After conviction, he can win reversal on appeal if he can show that the trial court abused its discretion in denying for-cause challenge."

145 Wn.2d 158 (citing Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 315, 120 S. Ct. 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000); but see, Clark, 143 Wn.2d at 762; Tharp, 42 Wn.2d at 500; Collins, 50 Wn.2d at 744; Robinson, 75 Wn.2d 230, 231-32; Gentry, 125 Wn.2d at 616; Elmore, 139 Wn.2d at 277;

Fire should not be read as impliedly overruling five decades of Washington precedent in orbiter dictum that briefly mentioned, without analyzing, a rule-based remedy extended to dissimilarly situated federal defendants given Washington's expressed commitment to stare decisis. See Id., see e.g., State v. Deer, 175 Wn.2d 725, 746, 287 P.3d 539 (2012)(citing Keene v. Edie, 131 Wn.2d 822, 831, 935 P.2d 588 (1997)(honoring the principal of stare decisis "promotes the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principals, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual and perceived

integrity of the judicial process")(quoting Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991)).

Fire cursorily referenced issue preservation in the context of challenges for cause as described in *Martinez-Salazar* without explaining why a remedy federal courts extend to federal defendants under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 24 could, or should, govern the options available to Washington defendants that allow purportedly problematic jurors to be seated without exhausting the peremptory challenges they receive under Washington CrR 6.4(e) to assist in empanelling an impartial jury. See e.g., 145 Wn.2d 159; Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. at 312, 315. Since Martinez-Salazar's cited ruling on issue preservation was not grounded in the federal constitution, it cannot be interpreted as superseding the waiver rule reaffirmed in Clark. See 143 Wn.2d at 762. Defendant apparently cites to *State v. Gonzales*, 111 Wn. App. 276, 280, 45 P.3d 205 (2002) to support the contention that Division I adopted Fire's dictum as a new rule, yet that reading is untenable since Gonzales never addressed the preclusive effect of a defendant's failure to exhaust peremptory challenges, presumably because that issue was not raised on appeal. See Schatz v. DSHS, 178 Wn. App. 16, 40, 314 P.3d 406 (2013)(citing Cont'l Mut.Sav. Bank v. Elliot, 166 Wash. 283, 300, 6 P.2d 638 (1932) ("An opinion is not authority for what is not mentioned therein").

Reading *Fire* as overruling precedent controlling issue preservation in Washington is also fundamentally at odds with our judiciary's considered reluctance to allow a *sub silentio* development of state law: "[w]here [the Court] ha[s] expressed a clear rule of law...[it] will not—and should not—over rule it *sub silentio*." *Lundsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 280 P.3d 1092 (2009)("[t]he doctrine of *stare decisis* applies regardless of whether we overrule a prior decision explicitly or implicitly. Therefore, we continue to require 'a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful."") *accord State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 548, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999); *see also Agostini v. Felton*, 521 U.S. 203, 237, 117 S.Ct. 1997, 138 L. Ed. 2d 391(1989)("[i]f a precedent of this Court has direct application in a case, yet appears to rest on reasons rejected in some other line of decisions, the Courts of Appeal should follow the case which directly controls, leaving to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.").

Although a later holding may impliedly overrule a prior holding if it directly contradicts⁴ an earlier rule of law, *Fire* fails to meet that criteria with respect to *Clark* because *Fire*, and *Martinez-Salazar*, decided cases where defendants exhausted their peremptory challenges.⁵ *Fire*, 145 Wn.2d at 156; *Martinez-Salazar*, 528 U.S. at 309. Whereas *Clark*, and the

⁴ Lundsford, 166 Wn.2d at 280.

⁵ CrR 6.4(e) In prosecution for offenses punishable by imprisonment in the state Department of corrections the defense and the state may challenge peremptorily "6 jurors each[.]"

cases it cites, addressed defendants, like Burns, who accepted jurors that could have been, but were not, excused through unused peremptory challenges. *Clark* therefore controls, and requires the appeal from the challenged ruling to be rejected without consideration on the merits.

b. <u>Defendant failed to prove the trial court</u> abused its discretion in deciding actual bias had not been proven.

"Case law, the juror bias statute, our Superior Court Criminal Rules and scholarly comment all emphasize that the trial court is in the best position to determine a juror's ability to be fair and impartial. It is the trial court that can observe the demeanor of the juror and evaluate and interpret responses." *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839, 809 P.2d 190 (1991)(*citing e.g., Gosser*, 33 Wn. App. at 434, 656 P.2d 514 (1982); *Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d at 749; RCW 4.44.170(2), .190; CrR 6.4(c)(1)).

"[T]he trial court has, and must have, a large measure of discretion" "[f]or the very reason that reasonable minds can well differ" on the significance of a potential juror's responses in the context of her full array of observable attributes. *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 839-40. "This discretion includes the power to weigh the credibility of the prospective juror ... and to choose among reasonable but competing inferences...[I]t must be exercised on the basis of probabilities, not possibilities ... which is equivalent to saying that the challenging party has the burden of proving the facts necessary to the challenge by a preponderance of the evidence."

Ottis, 61 Wn. App. at 753-54 (citing Noltie, 116 Wn.2d at 831); see Bourjaily v. United States, 483 U.S. 171, 176, 107 S. Ct. 2775, 2779, 97 L. Ed. 2d 144, 152 (1987).

A party challenging the trial court's denial of a challenge for cause on appeal "must show more than a mere possibility... the juror was prejudiced." *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 840 (*citing* L.Orlando & K. Tegland, § 202, at 331). The Supreme Court has "recently and repeatedly held that equivocal answers alone do not require a juror to be removed when challenged for cause, rather the question is whether a juror with preconceived ideas can set them aside." *Id.* at 839 (*citing Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d at 749; *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 707, 718 P.2d 407, 418, *cert. denied*, 479 U.S. 995, 107 S. Ct. 599, 93 L. Ed. 2d 599 (1986); *State v. Latham*, 100 Wn.2d 59, 64, 667 P.2d 56 (1983); *State v. White*, 60 Wn.2d 551, 569, 374 P.2d 942 (1962), *cert. denied*, 375 U.S. 883, 84 S. Ct. 154, 11 L. Ed. 2d 113 (1963); *see also* RCW 4.44.190).

i. Defendant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Juror 22's familiarity with several law enforcement officers resulted in actual bias.

Gosser held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a challenge for cause based on a claim the juror would unduly favor state witnesses due to his twenty six year career as a State Trooper. 33 Wn. App. at 433-34. The Court of Appeals deferred to the trial court's personal observation of the juror's demeanor in explaining his ability to evaluate

credibility based on factors other than a witness's professional status. *Id*.

Juror 22 was far less likely to unduly favor police testimony than the twenty six year police veteran deemed capable of overcoming that propensity in *Gosser*. Juror 22 was a retired proprietor of a 7-Eleven store, a limousine service, a landscaping service, and a beauty salon who acknowledged "know[ing]" three people identified as law enforcement. 12 RP 15, 43, 50. When asked whether those relationships would adversely impact his ability to be fair, Juror 22 initially stated: "Well, I'm not really sure." *Id.* Once the question was clarified he confirmed his ability to impartially decide the evidence. *Id.* at 44. He also dispelled the notion he perceived police to be categorically credible by stating he had "known a lot of officers. Sometimes you can believe them; sometimes you can't." 12RP 94.6

Defendant unfairly compares Juror 22 to the juror determined to be biased in *Gonzales*, 111 Wn. App. at 281-282. That juror "unequivocally admitted a bias in favor of police witnesses ... and indicated that the bias would likely affect her deliberations." *Id*. The juror "also candidly admitted she did not know if she could presume Gonzales innocent in the face of officer testimony." *Id*. No rehabilitation was accomplished, or attempted. *Id*. Based on those *combined* factors, actual bias was found. *Id*. A similar bias stemming from Juror 22's police contacts was not shown.

⁶ Juror 22 went on to say doctors and nurses who carefully document their work would have good credibility by virtue of their profession.

ii. Defendant has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence Juror 22's experience with robbery and rape committed by strangers resulted in an actual bias applicable to defendant's act of domestic violence.

"A defendant must prove actual bias." *Grenning*, 142 Wn. App. at 540 (*citing Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 838). He "must show more than a mere possibility ... the juror was prejudiced...." *Id.* (*citing Noltie* at 840). "A juror's equivocal answers alone do not justify removal for cause." *Id.* (*citing Noltie* at 839).

Juror 22 volunteered his ex-wife had been raped, and he had been assaulted in a robbery, perpetrated by strangers in a 7-Eleven store he previously owned. 12RP 49-50. He expressed uncertainty about whether those experiences would interfere with his ability to decide defendant's case impartially, stating: "It depends on what kind of case it is. I'm not really sure what abuse we are talking about here." 12RP 50. Juror 22 responded to the revelation that both cases involved physical assault by representing: "I could try to be impartial." *Id.* at 51. He also stated he "would try" to set his personal experience aside. *Id*.

When defense counsel followed up on those responses, Juror 22 reaffirmed he "could try to be impartial", adding that he "could be as fair as [he] can." *Id.* at 61-62. He responded to counsel's expressed confusion by stating "Well, I could be fair." *Id.* At counsel's prompting he reiterated "You know, I could be as fair as I can." *Id.* He then acknowledged there

was a greater possibility of him being fair in a case that did not involve assault. *Id.* He nevertheless discounted the effect pictures of physical violence would having on him, noting his experience "see[ing] some pretty gruesome pictures." 12 RP 63.

Juror 22 distinguished his prior experience to another venireman's DV experience by stating:

"What we were just talking about, that lady there, it was family domestic. The person that I was with, did to me, was somebody I did not know. And I don't know this gentleman either. So for me being impartial to him, I can't really say. I'm sorry."

12RP 67-68.

Juror 22 amended his answers the next day:

"For me logically to say I can give you a positive answer on his outcome, I cannot ...I thought about this all last night, and I want to be fair to this gentleman here. And I really can't be."

12RP 119-21. Defense counsel moved to excuse him for cause. *Id.* When the prosecutor inquired into Juror 22's reasoning he described the injuries he sustained in the unrelated robbery, concluding:

"I can't -- I don't know you ... I can't say I am going to be able to really give a good outcome for him."

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